
S
ince 1971, this month witness the unprecedented stand off between the two rival countries, India and Pakistan. After the attack of Kaluchak the government of India adopted proactive approach by expelling the Pakistani High Commissioner and further intensifying its war mobilization. The belligerent posturing, bellicosity and brinkmanship of both the countries alarmed the international community. The war hysteria created by the politicians, government controlled media and non-governmental electronic media influenced the public mind. There was complete polarization between the people of two countries, totally marginalising the saner voices of civil society. The preventive diplomacy was taken by the US and UK to prevent the political conflict from turning violent. The diplomats of these countries resorted to shuttle diplomacy, in order to pacify the two nuclear powers. These powers are afraid of nuclear exchange between them and the nuclear holocaust, which would be catastrophic for the Southeast Asian region where one-sixth population of the world live. But these diplomats, acting on behalf of their governments tend to seek only negative peace by usually competitive processes. The fact is that the negative peace alone is not enough to do the job; indeed, that without positive peace, negative peace may collapse, there by leading to a resumption of the very hostilities it sought to suppress. Unless the underlying structural causes and conditions that leads to the violent conflict, which negative peace processes seek to contain, are not eliminated, there can’t be genuine peace, as is the case in Cyprus where a fragile negative peace held for some 30 years is always a risk because of the failure of the parties. The Palestine also falls in the same category.

It is the need of the hour that the track two initiatives by the non-governmental organisations are strengthen for conflict management and conflict resolution. The alarming aspects of the present conflict are the jingoism and chauvinism, which has swayed the people undeterred from the dangers of nuclear war and the competitive jingoism from the retired generals, former foreign secretaries, journalists and defense strategist from both the countries have totally neutralize the reason and the logic, like truth in war the reason has become causality in the pre-war situation. One wonders whether without international intervention or international pressure, these two countries had really adopted the march of self-annihilation or they would have behaved more reasonably, if the international community would have ignored their brinkmanship. As both governments of the two countries were addressing the multiple constituencies.

In Kashmir, the people were confused in this pre-war situation. A section of the population were of the view that the war is the only solution of Kashmir dispute, as they are fed up by the ongoing conflict which has caused destruction and devastation in Kashmir and wanted the final round could decide the issue once and for all. Another section was of the opinion that the two parties should also suffer like Kashmiris and realise the sufferings of the conflict. There was also an optimistic view by a section of people that in nuclear exchange Kashmir would be safer and not a target by the two warring countries. A section of the people were angry that the terrorism has become a global concern after 11th September but the state terrorism which is more organised is being ignored. But majority of the people was of the view that the US in the present unipolar world will not allow the two countries to go to war. It is shocking that the people in power for the first time competed in teaching the other side a lesson and the Chief Minister of the Jammu & Kashmir state was proving more loyal than a king.

Though the war hysteria has come down, after the war has been averted due to the external pressure, but the present no-war situation cannot ensure the peace in the region. It is deceptive and in future, after any other major incident there will be again re-play of the previous act with more ferocity. The people in Southeast Asia are sitting on the volcano and the need of the hour is to change the mind of the society by strengthening the civil society initiatives in these two countries and in Kashmir, otherwise the politicians for their electoral and other compulsions for retaining their power cannot hesitate to adopt the suicidal policies. We are living in the era where the pity politicians rule the people in the Southeast Asian countries. The statesman like Dinosaurs has got extinct. The major responsibility lies on the media and civil society of the subcontinent to be more responsible towards their duties for establishing peace. The electronic media unfortunately is toeing the line of the hawks in the government for pity interests at the cost of the posterity. History will never forgave them for the crimes they are committing.                     

Massacre at Surankote
(SHRC REPORT)

On the intervening night of 3rd and 4th of August 1998, in a dastardly act nineteen persons including thirteen women were killed in a remote Sailan village, 15 km away from Surankote, Poonch. After the act, the villagers flee their homes out of fear and become migrants in Surankote Dak Bungalow. The killings shocked the people. The army accused militants behind these killings and the villagers accused the army.   The State Human Rights Commission (SHRC) took suo moto cognizance of the incident and investigated the matter. The enquiry report was present before the government. This report was not made public for the longtime.  

Now we are reproducing the interim and the final report in which SHRC has indicted the army personnel of 9 Rastriya Rifles and the SPO’s group working under them. Up to this time nobody has been prosecuted by the state and the perpetrators are still operating in the uniform.      

Interim Report: -

On 09-09-1998 on landing at Surankote I first made spot visit at Sailan village of Surankote, Poonch regarding killing of 19 persons by some unidentified gunmen, regarding which making of the report is in process. The post effects of the killings indicated need immediate attention of Jammu and Kashmir government. The entire population of the Sailan village has migrated to Surankote town where the District Administration (District Divisional Commissioner) has provided accommodation to a section of the migrated people in the Revenue Complex while other have occupied rented accommodation which is insufficient due to limited build-up space in the town. Those who have been provided shelter in the Revenue Complex are distressed in many aspects. The migrants have been accommodated in the rooms of office complex where on inspection in some rooms, even thirty persons men, women and children have been adjusted which serves them as kitchen and sleeping accommodation in an unhygienic condition like live stock. Their condition was observed miserable height of it is that the government has provided no relief in the shape of food grains and blankets so far except for a week at the beginning by District Division Commissioner. As observed the fear stricken inmates lay on the naked floor, which exhibits their helplessness and their present plight appeared human rights violation, which needs immediate redressal by the government. The government should not put to test their extreme patience. The immediate requirement is to provide them free ration (rice) and distribution of blankets, some allowance for utensils, kerosene oil for food cooking and remove the impression that government has ignored remote residence of the state who now have left their houses, where they were living peacefully unnoticed but for the brutal and barbarous killing of their near and dear neighbours.    

The incident of 3/4 August 1998 has germinated a horror and a state of insecureness to the villagers of Sailan, which has witnessed a scene of butchering of 19 persons. The women allegedly having been first raped, then mercilessly all nineteen showered with bullets adding the brutal action by cutting limbs of the dead. Once this scene is witnessed by near relatives, their fear of life should be assessed, how could they dare to live in the village particularly the women folk unmarried grown-up young girls where old and young have been treated at park for violence. The Commission observed that government instead of ignoring the havoc stricken inhabitants of Sailan be given impression that popular government is at their back to feed and protect them from further evil designs of blood and lust thirsty bruits. I have, on spot, requested the District Division Commissioner Mr. M.S. Khan who is aware of the difficulties to take steps and help the migrants to overcome their post incident miseries till the J&K government provides the required relief.

Before making the final report, in this interim report I recommend the government to get in touch with District Division Commissioner, Poonch to restore confidence to the migrants by granting free ration, blankets, and all human care, not only that but force in command in the area to combat terrorism, show friendly gesture for confidence building, so that people go back to take care of their house hold, crops and live stock which being dear to them having left behind due to threat and apprehension of human rights violation.

The action taken on this interim report is reported to the Commission within thirty days. Final report will follow in due course.

 Justice G.A.Kuchay SHRC NO. /PS/98. Forwarded to the Chief Secretary Jammu and Kashmir State for information and necessary action. 

A case under section 302-120B-121-122-449 RPC 3 EAO 7-25-26-27 IAA has lodged in police station, Surankote in which the police have blamed the militants which the local denies. The two written complainants on behalf of Sailan villagers Aftab, Azad and Taj Hussain advocates straitway point the army involved in the massacre.      

E

xcerpts of the final report completed on 21st of October 1998 and presented to the Chief     

        Minister of J&K State under 

        SHRC No /98/PS/1127
 The Commission had visited the house of Mohammad Hussain in Sailan where the entire killings took place. Sailan village is situated at a distance of 15 kms, from Surankote town on one side of the Mughal road. Sailan village comprises with the population of 1888 persons. There is an army camp of 9 Rastriya Rifles at a distance of about 700 feet on the upper ridge of the Sailan village, from the house of Hussain Mohammad Sheikh deceased. The Commission examined the house of Mohammad Hussain they saw the bullet marks on the walls. The residence on spot exhibited a blanket, which was bearing numerous bullet holes, possibly bullets had been showered on the inmates who were intended to be killed, may be in sleeping state. Two metal utensils, one used for flour mixing were exhibited bearing bullet holes attempted by some deceased as a shield to protect themselves from rain of bullets. One dirty quilt drenched in blood was also shown on the spot. The Commission issued notices under section 24 sub clause 2 of the J&K HRP Act to the army personnel, paratroopers and local police, as the Commission feels that they have the powers to seek evidence on matters which may be useful and helpful on the matters of enquiry. Interpreting sub section 2 of section 24, the SHRC is not bared to entertain the complaints in the case in hand; the allegation in the killing of 19 persons was by the unidentified-armed persons. Thus the Commission, shot of any identification of the assailants has to proceed to hold fact-finding enquiry. It is therefore the Commission made efforts to serve the army personnel who could have the knowledge of occurrence. But the army didn’t join. The Commission visited the graveyard where 19 persons (six males and 13 females) were buried. The Commission examined eight witnesses due to fear many witnesses didn’t depose before the Commission. Almost all the witnesses collaborated, their statements that the army and SPO’s were involved in the killing but not the militants. One important testimony was given by one Shabir, who survived the massacre and had given the detailed account of occurrence having gone out to ease himself at that time. He deposed having seen the uniformed men moving down, using path with torches in hands, then “noise of vehicles” on the main road. Civil traffic at mid-night in the area was unimaginable on the road or otherwise where army is in control having ordered the local people not to move out after 6:30 p.m.  The Commission directed J.P. Singh, SSP, Poonch to provide security to the witnesses examined before the Commission. During enquiry it was established that one Imtiyaz, a dreaded under ground militant having escaped once after being arrested by the security forces and was wanted by then. One Zakir Hussain, SPO and his three associates, chased him. Zakir was the chief sources of army in the area and on 3rd of August Zakir got killed during an encounter, which causes shock to the army. 

Thereafter, the defiled army personnel of 9 RR declared publicly that “they would took revenge by killing 19-20 persons before the burial of his man”. Even some passers-by heard the army’s intention and on the same night the killing of nineteen persons (thirteen woman and six men) took place including ten members of one Lassa Sheikh’s family, the father of a dreaded militant namely, Imtiyaz who was suspected behind the killing of Zakir. The army camp of 9 Para at the distance of 700 feet on the scene of occurrence didn’t abstract the attention. Neither the army came on the spot. The silence of the army leads to positive conclusion that associates of Zakir SPO’s group in order to take revenge of their associate’s killing in the dead of night planned the attack by taking aid of the army. The killing of nineteen persons could not be an independent act without planning short of support by the forces. The local people who gathered before the Commission ruled out the participation of local and foreign militants in the killing of nineteen persons. They stated that Zakir’s associate group with active support of the army was behind the killing. 

Conclusion: - 

Keeping in view all the circumstances and considering the material in the shape of written complaints by Aftab Azad and Syed Taj Hussain, Advocate, President Bar Association, Poonch and oral statements, it is not difficult but easy to draw the conclusion now the occurrence of killing took place and who is responsible for the same.

As has been discussed that Zakir Hussain, slain SPO who was basically a militant, three-four years back surrendered before the army got himself recruited as an SPO and worked as an informer to the local army. He got recruited three more persons from his Gujjar Community as SPO’s remaining attached to the local army. On the other hand, there is one more under ground militant namely, Imtiyaz Sheikh who was earlier arrested by security forces, having ones escaped was heading a group of local militants may be in line with foreign militants who are hailing in the area.

Zakir Hussain, slain SPO along with his group in association with the army were attempting to nab Imtiyaz so his father Lassa Sheikh’s house was being searched frequently. A rumour had spread that five days prior to occurrence Imtiyaz had come to home village Sailan. Zakir Hussain with his associates might have been alert to catch Imtiyaz, so Imitiyaz’s militant party were not only conscious being wanted, but they also might have been chasing Zakir Hussain, who fell to the bullets of some unidentified gunmen on the main road at Sailan village. The group of slain Zakir SPO lost their leader, army lost trusted informer and a father lost his son. While lifting dead body of Zakir SPO army had vowed to wipe twenty persons even before his burial. As a natural consequences also the killing of Zakir SPO could not be ignored. Moreover, the involvement of Imtiyaz militant and his group in the killing could not be ruled out.  The fact get support from mere circumstances, the whole family of Imtiyaz militant including his father Lassa Sheikh together with family of Ahmad Din got brutally killed on the same night i.e. 3/4 intervening night when Zakir SPO got killed in day time. 

One glaring fact noted when blood bath of nineteen persons was taking place in the house of Ahmad Din, the army picket being only about 200 meters away, the army supposed to be vigilant round the clock did not come on spot to intervene when civilians had been ordered not to move after 6:30 p.m. The silence of the army on the time of occurrence is not meaningless uniformed personnel seen moving with torch lights around the scene of occurrence then moving down to board the vehicles on the main road, leaves none in doubt except bias mind.

Thus to sum up the occurrence of killing in question does not travel beyond the belief that three unnamed associates of slain Zakir SPO his relation joined by the security forces of the area, who could not be identified have to shoulder the allegations for the massacre of innocent persons because the statements of local people recorded and expressions gathered pin only the elements indicated including even faint involvement of any body else. It is observed that neither any direct evidence was available nor particular person has been named or identified to give definite clue of the heinous crime, which left 19 persons killed. 

Recommendation:-

The Home Department will issue directions to Superintendent of Police, Poonch to identify the three SPOs associates of slain Zakir attached with 9 Para at Bafalyaz Army Camp. And bring them in the net, if investigation of the case registered regarding the occurrence together with father of Zakir, deceased, who happened grieved, seen weeping before the army. As regards the alleged allegation against the security forces without identifying any particular force, the unified command is under obligation to take stock of the occurrence. Why the army personnel at Sailan picket did not react when the occurrence took place at a distance of barely 200 meters from their picket that too around midnight the uniformed persons seen moving with torch lights when no civilian could move at that time. The unified command by seeking verification will restore the confidence of army in local people, which is assessed eroded. The Sailan people look army with hostile eyes, having lost confidence in them because of suspected hand in the killing. The army in command is expected to give feeling to the people as their saviours and shun hostile attitude, which will make their job an easy affair while seeking cooperation to discharge their professional duties. Army command will take the event a serious one having attracted criticism locally. As per signs gathered the army has to achieve the aim assigned rather to reach the goal, for which local cooperation is felt essential. 

Those who suffered because of killing and surveyed by the District Administration, Poonch have to be awarded cash compensation by the government on the similar lines as may have been paid to survivors of killings at Wandhama, Ganderbal an identical massacre. In addition, one Shabir Ahmad Sheikh, a student of 12th class son of Ahmad Din who survived the attack in which his whole family got wiped is recommended to be admitted in boarding house at Poonch College immediately with boarding, lodging and education at the expenses of government till he passes his graduation. The arrangement will ensure his security aspect also, which is needed most for him because of compensation to be awarded and other circumstances or post occurrence.

The District Administration will consider seriously the security risk of the witnesses, who deposed before the Commission and filed written complaints before the Commission named in the report.

Interim report dated 14-09-1998 for relief to the migrants of Sailan must have find favour with Jammu and Kashmir government needs to be reassured.

    It is the Home Department J&K government responsible to look into all aspects of the event in question in the light of this report keeps an eye on the post happenings of the killing. And to find means and methods for avoiding any such future occurrence in the area, which is remote from the eyes of the government, otherwise a border district Poonch wherever caution has to be taken by the forces in control.

The J&K government will take action on the report with thirty days from its receipt with intimation to this Commission. The report be placed before the Hon’ble Chief Minister, J&K state forthwith for kind perusal. 

Justice GA Kuchay, Chairperson, J&K State Human Rights Commission on 14-09-1998 SHRC report No. /98/PS/1127.  The report was forwarded to the Chief Secretary.

The veteran Hurriet Conference leader Abdul Gani Lone, was killed by unidentified gunmen. Recently, he had become controversial due to his, political stands. His statement, that foreign militants have no role in Kashmir (though he was first to welcome them) and recently his participation in Dubai conference had made him defensive before his critics. On 21st of May, unidentified gunmen at the martyr’s graveyard, Eidgah gunned down Abdul Gani Lone, when the Hurriet Conference was organising a rally on the 12-death anniversary of Mirwaiz Moulvi Mohammad Farooq. This killing was made in presence of thousands of persons and almost televises live from the electronic media, who had assembled there to cover the rally. Before the killing the rally was marred by pro Pakistani supporters and others, these groups were raising slogans in favour of Pakistan and denouncing the sellout of the Hurriet leaders. There were also clashes in which some people got injured.

Sometime back before this incident, unidentified gunmen had twice fired Lone’s residential house at Rawalpora. Also eight years before an abortive attempt was made, when a vehicle carrying IED exploded outside his residence at Rawalpora. Lone then had alleged that the army intelligence was behind it, in which he and his family members had a narrow escape.  Lone was the most controversial person but was bold to take independent decisions, which he felt, was in the interest of the Kashmiri people and according to ground realities.

On 21st of May, the rally when starts leaving the Eidgah graveyard, a grenade was hurled, which didn’t explode followed the firing made by two unidentified gunmen allegedly in police uniform. In the firing, Gani Lone and his bodyguard Mustaq Ahmad got killed and his other bodyguard Ghulam Hassan sustained injuries. Lone received several bullet injuries and succumbed to his injuries before the chaos and confusion ended. Lone’s dead body was lying abundant in the middle of the ground. According to the statement of an eyewitness namely, Abdul Rashid Lone, who drew Lone to Eidgah, that the first bullet hit Mushtaq PSO, then Lone was shot in his abdomen belly and chest and with in seconds he fell on the ground. Thereafter, when the second PSO of Lone tried to retaliate several bullets hit him.  People first thought that the shots are just a gun salutes, a tribute to the late Mirwaiz but when they learned that Lone was shot, they began to run in panic. Lone’s killing was attributed to insufficient security cover. The government knew that he was vulnerable because of his political position. No body claimed responsibility of the killing.        

The assassination of Lone was a major event after the killing of Mirwaiz Moulvi Farooq way back in 1990. Lone’s assassination was widely condemned by the Hurriet leaders, militant groups, Prime Minister & Home Minister of India, Governor & Chief Minister of J&K and even by the American Secretary of State Colin Powell condemned the murder as terrorism and attack on the hopes of the political dialogue on Kashmir.    

One of the sons of the Lone accused first that the Inter Service Intelligence (ISI) of Pakistan was behind the killing of his father. Interestingly, on next day he resiled and stated that his father died in the convergence and he added so many agencies both from Pakistan and India are working here and it was difficult to judge who was behind the killing. However, the People’s Conference decided to expose the conspiracy behind the Lone’s killing. The relatives and the followers of Lone humiliated the senior Hurriet leaders Syed Ali Shah Geelani and Prof. Abdul Gani Bhat, when they visited to see the bereaved family. One of the sons of Lone, Sajad Lone said that the state government facilitated the killing by not providing required security to Lone. The Hurriet Conference demanded the judicial probe in the incident.

Kaluchak attack 

On 14th of May, in a heart stunning Fidayeen (suicide squad) attack allegedly carried by the militants active in the state at Kaluchak area of Jammu region in which thirty six persons including eleven children and five woman were gunned down and nearly forty eight persons including a Junior Commissioned Officer and eight jawans received injuries some of them critically. All the three assailants were shot dead in a subsequent operation. 

As per the reports, a three-member group of Fidayeen allegedly boarded the bus bearing number 1032-HP 32A of Himachal State Road Transport Corporation at Vijaypur in Samba tehsil when the bus was on its way to Kulu to Jammu. According to one senior army officer that the militants intended target was the bus but not the army camp, the militants were afraid when they were retaliated by a guard on duty. Contrary to the army’s statement the reports accumulated from the spot and eyewitnesses that the militants’ actual target was the army camp but not the bus. 

Reports revealed that three militants in army uniform, armed with sophisticated weapons boarded the bus at Vijaypur, the commuters, driver and the conductor of the bus presumed them as army personnel. The gunmen took different seats in the bus. One sat at rear another sat behind the driver and the third one at the front door. On reaching Kaluchak the gunmen told the bus driver for stopping the bus, before leaving the bus one of the gunman without any provocation cocked his gun and started firing on the commuters. Seven commuters including three women were killed on the spot and number of persons received injuries some of them badly. Assailants allegedly hurled a hand grenade on the tank of the bus in order to blown up the bus but failed to cause heavy damage. After hurling hand grenades on the bus the gunmen kept showering bullets and within little time they managed their entry inside the gate of the apartment housing 195 Artillery Unit. The gunmen shot dead the security guard on the gate and entered easily into the apartment. Two assailants managed their entry inside the residential quarter housing by the family members of the army officials and one managed his entry into a building where from he hurled grenades on the garage due to which two vehicles caught fire. One soldier was died on the spot inside the garage. 

According to the official statement the assailants were killed immediately after the encounter starts. The assailants hurled number of grenades inside the quarter resulting into the death of several women and children and dozens of others received injuries some of them badly. Later on, some of the injured persons succumbed to their injuries in the hospital.

The exchange of fire lasted for more than two hours. Security forces cordon the buildings where the assailants took positions and in encounter all the assailants were gunned downed by the army. Thereafter, the security forces for surety of killing of all the assailants launched a massive search operation.

A little known militant outfit Al Mansoor and the Jamiet-ul-Mujahideen allegedly claimed responsibilities of the attack.

This incident was condemned by the Chief Minister and Governor of Jammu and Kashmir, Prime Minister and President of India and even by international community and some militant groups.                       

Triple Murder Case

Three widows, witnesses of three deceased youth (who were detained in Soura police station on 23rd June 1999 and later killed in custody) has filed a writ petition before the Jammu and Kashmir High Court. The witnesses/widows have sought that they be provided the security and travelling expenses to depose before the Sessions Court, Jammu, where the accused persons have transferred the case from Srinagar Sessions Court, so that the witnesses could be frustrated and won’t be able to cover a distant of 302 kms of their own and could not participate in the trial. There are 64 witnesses in this triple murder case and all the accused persons are the police officials. The main accused Rashid Ahmad Billa Dy.SP is absconding and another accused Mohammad Rafiq Chachoo had sought bail on medical grounds and thereafter, he has given slip to the bail and is absconding. The witnesses including the eyewitness Pir Noor-ul-Haq apprehend that they will be harmed by the two absconding officers who are still working with the army. Some of the witnesses have already visited at the Jammu Court but the judge was not present there and they have returned without recording their statement.

The Hon’ble High Court through Justice Muzaffer Jan on 08-05-2002 after hearing the arguments from P. Imroz, the counsel of the witnesses directed that the senior Additional Advocate General MY Qadir to file objections within three weeks time. Meanwhile, the trial court was directed not to take any step to close the evidence of the witnesses in pending criminal matter of FIR No. 60/99 and in case entitled as State Vs Mohammad Rafiq Chachoo.  


Five civilians killed in Doda

On 4th of May, five civilians were killed allegedly by suspected militants in Doda district.  A group of gunmen armed with sophisticated weapons barged into the house of one Abdul Gani Beige at Behota village of Marmat in Doda district and fired indiscriminately on the inmates that resulted in on the spot death of five persons including four of a family. Immediately after the killings gunmen fled from the spot.

However, the police said that these five civilians were not killed in a single incident they were killed in three different villages but not in a single house. 

The identification of deceased persons has been confirmed as Jan Mohammad, Fiaz Ullah son of Abdul Gani Beige, Abdul Gani son of Mukhtar Wani, Jived Iqbal son of Abdul Gani and Nand Lal son of Ram Ji of Kund

Two Kashmiris convicted by the TADA Court, Hyderabad
On 15th of May 2002, Metropolitan Sessions Judge, Hyderabad (designated court under TADA) Mr. S. S. Reddy, convicted Gowhar Ameen Mir of Naseem Bagh, Srinagar and Nissar Ahmed Bhat of Mohalla Moura Khan Khlainder, Srinagar, in case number 595/ 1994. There were 12 accused persons in the case out of which ten non-Kashmiri accused persons have been acquitted. Gowhar Ameen is BUMS graduate from Hyderabad and Nissar Ahmed, a shawl vendor, both have been found guilty for the offences punishable under section U/Ss. 120-B, 124-A, 153-A, 153-B IPC (Indian Penal Code) and Ss. 3(3) & 5 of the Tada Act 1987. Allegations against them was that Gowhar Ameen Mir during his studies at Hyderabad was involved in militancy and had identified the important buildings and vital installations were bombs could have been planted to create panic and terror among the public in Hyderabad city and against Nisar Ahmed Bhat that he was recruiting Muslim boys for subversive activities in Hyderabad and he had recently come from Calcutta to take fresh batch of trainees to send Pakistan via Bangladesh during his stay in New Asian Lodge. Both the accused persons had denied the charges. Gowhar had stated that Police arrested him on 30th of September 1993 at Nampally railway station and detained him in illegal custody for 83 days and during the illegal custody police forced him to sign on some papers. Nisar had stated that Police foisted the case against him as he hails from Kashmir. The prosecution had presented 24 witnesses most of them were Police officials and finally the designated court after hearing the arguments had passed the judgement: -


Considering the facts and circumstances of the case Gowhar Ameen Mir is sentenced to suffer rigorous imprisonment for a period of two years and to pay a fine of Rs 1000 in default to suffer simple imprisonment for a period of four months for the offence under section 120-B IPC, to suffer RI for a period of three years and to pay a fine of Rs 1000 in default to suffer SI for the offence under section 124-A IPC. 

The same punishment has been awarded to Nissar Ahmed Bhat. Both the accused persons have been sentenced 5 years rigorous imprisonment and fine. Already Gowhar Ameen is under detention from June 2000. The court has further directed that all the documents shall be destroyed after expiry of appeal time, which is 30 days. The accused persons are facing sentence in Cuhrullapy, central prison RR district.

The relatives of the accused persons have filed the appeal before Supreme Court of India against the conviction. The appeal is listed on in July for arguments
Journalist shot at

On 29th of May, unidentified gunman barged in the office of Kashmir Image, a local English daily, which is situated at Residency Road in Lal Chowk, shot at and seriously wounded the sub editor Zaffer Iqbal of the newspaper at around 2:50 p.m. 

Reports revealed that a group of three gunmen of whom two entered in the office and one stands outside the office. The gunmen claimed that they were from a courier service and handed over an envelop for his editor, who was absent at that time and they engaged Zaffer Iqbal in a conversation. Thereafter, they called in their third colleague, who was waiting outside. As soon as the third gunman entered the office one of the gunman opened several rounds at him immediately after Zaffer finished the signature on the paper produced before him by the gunmen. Zaffer sustained serious injuries and fell down on the floor. He received bullet injuries in his legs, arms and neck. The gunmen escaped immediately after the incident. Thereafter, his officemates when heard the gunshots reached the room of the office, where they saw Zaffer in a pool of blood and rushed him to SMHS hospital in serious conditions. After the preliminary treatment, at SMHS, later on he was referred to Sher Kashmir Institute of Medical Science, (SKIMS) Soura for further treatment.   


11 houses gutted in Baramulla encounter
On 3rd of May, in a twenty hours gun battle between the army and militants in Syed Karim Sahib, locality in Baramulla six militants were roasted alive and three soldiers and a civilian sustained injuries. 

According to a defense spokesman on information of militants presence in a deserted migrant house, soldiers cordoned the area, evacuated the residents before the fierce encounter started. During the encounter eleven houses were damaged in fire caused by RDX. The gunshots plunged the entire town in panic. A 60 year old Abdul Wahab Gojri received injuries. One Brigadier Gill of JAK Rifles alleged that Gojri was shot at by the hold up militants. “People alleged that the residential houses were set ablaze during the encounter by the army”. According to the Navin Chowdhary Deputy Commissioner of Baramulla that the fire broke out after a second huge blast apparently caused when Light Machine Guns (LMG) bullets hit some Liquefy Petroleum Gas slanders lying in the house.

On next day Baramulla town observed a complete shut down against the destruction of houses in the area, shops and business establishments were closed and traffic was off the roads.  

Disappearances

*
On 14th of May, one highly depressed middle aged person namely, Abdul Khaliq Mir resident of Pattal, Kalasar along with his nephew Manzoor Ahmad Dar placed the facts regarding the disappearance of his son before the PCHR and sought legal services from its legal cell.

According to the statement of Abdul Khaliq Mir “on 14th of October 2000, a mine blast went off at Batapora main road of Pattan in which a Captain of 29 Rastriya Rifles camped at Checksari identified as Gurjeet Singh received minor injuries. 

Thereafter, on 14th and 15th of October 29 RR arrested several youth. All of them were released within a period of one month except my son Ghulam Mohammad Mir, 22, who was a taxi driver and has no inclination towards militancy. He used to remain busy with his work. Ghulam Mohammad was arrested along with his cousin namely, Manzoor Ahmad Dar resident of Naidkhaw, Sumbal. On 16th of October I along with my few relatives approached the camp of 29 RR where few renegades of our area helped us to contact with the Captain who had arrested my son. When we appeared before the Captain and enquired about the whereabouts of my son, which he accepted at that time was in their custody, but the Captain started abusing me without any reason and told me to come after few days.  

Few days later I along with my neighbours again approached the Captain of 29 RR he assured the release of my son after sometime and told me not to come again. But after the passage of one month when my son was not released, I approached the 29 RR camp again where he (Captain) told that my son was released already. Thereafter, I approached several camps and Kot Bhalwal Jail of Jammu, but nothing was ascertained. I and my family have received a major setback after the arrest and disappearance of my son”. 

According to the statement of Manzoor Ahmad Dar, who was arrested along with Ghulam Mohammad that “on 15th of October Ghulam Mohammad told me that he was not feeling well and was suffering from head ache. I advised him to consult the doctor and I will took the passengers. While operating his taxi when I was moving towards Nehalpora, Pattan with the passengers at Kaslasar security forces intercepted me and enquired about the diver of the car, I replied to them that he is not feeling well and preferred to rest. Thereafter, soldiers told me to move the taxi and five of them entered the taxi and ordered me to move towards Nehalpora, near Nehalpora hospital my cousin was coming out after treatment. The soldiers called him and told me to give the rear seat to him and he will drive the taxi. The soldiers took us towards the TCP headquarter and in headquarter they separated us. On next day at 1:00 p.m. I saw my cousin in morbid condition and the soldiers told me gave him some food to eat, which he refused to eat and only drink a glass of water.  I saw inhuman torture was inflicted at him. His left leg and left arm was damaged badly during interrogation. On same day I was handed over to renegades and on 17th of October I was released. Since thereafter, I have never seen him again.”     

The legal cell of PCHR before the High Court of Jammu and Kashmir along with an affidavit of Ghulam Mohammad filed the petition of Habeas Corpus. 
* Imam disappeared
One Ghulam Mohammad Mir son of Ghulam Nabi Mir resident of Achalipora, Pattan a priest while disembarking from the bus in the Super Market in Sopore on 3rd of May was arrested by the army personnel wearing civilian dress. He was taken to the Commanding Officer of 22nd Rastriya Rifles. People at 2:00 p.m. approached the SHO Sopore for filing FIR, which he refused. Instead he advised the people to wait for some time. People also approached SSP, Sopore. People approached the Deputy Commissioner Baramulla with out any success. The concerned army was also approached. On 5th of May army officials sent a message to the people to come and collect the Imam. When people went to the camp the army denied having arrested such person. 

On 8th of May, the said army conduct a raid at the residence of another priest namely, Ghulam Mohi-ud-Din he was enquired whether he has any affiliation with Ghulam Mohammad Mir which he denied. Ghulam Mohammad is still missing.

*
On 3rd of May, Border Security Forces from Town-hall, Sopore camp allegedly raided the residence of one Ghulam Mohammad Sofi at Arampora, Sopore and told him to come to the camp along with his daughter on tomorrow. Next day on 4th of May Ghulam Mohammad along with his seventeen year old daughter namely, Gulshan visited the camp and thereafter their whereabouts are not known.       

*
Two sons of Qalam Din Bujad are missing since 3rd May 2002. They identification of disappeared boys are confirmed as Abdul Latief and Farooq Ahmad resident of Sumlar Bandipora.

*
A youth namely, Khursheed Ahmad Banday resident of Beerwah, Budgam have been missing after he was allegedly arrested by Special Operation Group of police camped at Humhama from his residence on 20th May.  

*
A youth namely, Bashir Ahmad Sheikh son of Ali Mohammad resident of Aram Masjid, Khanyar in downtown was disappeared since May 28. The Border Security Forces personnel from a local auto rickshaw stand arrested Bashir Ahmad on 28th of May 2002 since then his whereabouts are not known. His family and relatives demanded the intervention of higher authorities.  

Alleged Excesses

>
On 13th of May, inhabitants of Safa Kadal of downtown area of Srinagar took to the street in order to protest against the Border Security Forces (BSF) personnel manning the area. Reports revealed that the BSF personnel beaten an Imam (priest) and force him not to use the loud speakers for Azan (verses loudly used for calling the Muslims for joining the prayer in Mosque).  The protestors were demanding the removal of forces from the area. The BSF personnel in order to disband the protestors chase away the protestors using rifle butts, but when they were not succeed to disband them, one of the soldier opened fire wounded one youth namely, Mohammad Sultan Gujri who was rushed to hospital. Thereafter, senior police and BSF officials visited the area and pacify the demonstrators after assuring them that the incident would be investigated and stern action would be taken.    

>
On 17th of May, inhabitants of Hamdania Colony, Bemina appealed the authorities to shift the soldiers from the area. People alleged that the soldier manned the area harass the inhabitants of the area particularly the youth. Frisking and searching of the youth has become a routine. People of the area feared to venture out of their homes.  

>
On 30th May, inhabitants of Banihal area accused security forces deployed in their area of harassing the locals after Fidayeen (suicide squad) attacked them. 

Extra Judicial Executions

*
On 20th May, a youth namely, Muzaffer Ahmad Wani son of Muhammad Amin Wani resident of Habba Kadal was allegedly shot at by the personnel of Border Security Forces (BSF) of 89 BN at Maharaj Gunj. Muzaffer was injured critically and was rushed to SMHS hospital where he breathed his last.     

The inhabitants of Maharaj Gunj and the neighbouring areas of downtown when heard the killing news of Muzaffer took to the street and held a massive protest demonstration against the killing. The people raised slogans against the BSF personnel and demanded an impartial probe into the killing and the area observed a complete shut down. 

However, the BSF said that Muzaffer was killed when the gun of a BSF man went off accidentally. But an enquiry was ordered into the incident and the accused personnel have been detained.  

*
On 20th May, another alleged extra judicial killing has been reported from Varmul. A farmer identified as Nazir Ahmad Quresh son of Sakhi Quresh resident of Bazipora Ajas, Varmul who was apprehended by the personnel of Special Operation Group of police, Ganderbal on 16th of May. 

Reports said that he was allegedly tortured ruthlessly first at Safapora camp and later shifted to Ganderbal camp on 18th of May. Thereafter, his dead body was recovered from Safapora forest on 20th May. The inhabitants of Varmul area held massive protest demonstration against the killing and raised slogans against SOG and held them responsible for the killing. Security forces use smoke shells to disband the mob. People alleged that visible torture marks were seen on his body. People said that Nazir Ahmad was an innocent villager and has no inclination towards militancy and was apprehended when he was busy in his field. The people also demanding probe in to the incident and stern action against the SOG whom they said are responsible for the killing. 

However, the police refused the allegation as baseless and said that Nazir was arrested by the joint posse of SOG and CRPF in police district, Ganderbal and claimed recovery of AK rifle, a hand grenade, a smoke grenade, 45 rounds of ammunition and 2 cartridges from his possession. Nazir’s killing took place when he leading the posse towards a hide out in Bazipora and when he tried to flee he fell down in a gorge and died on the spot.       

*
On 24th of May, a student of 11th standard namely, Mohammad Maqbool was allegedly killed brutally by the security forces personnel of 24 Rastriya Rifles at Zab Magam in Kupwara.

On 25th of May, inhabitants of Zab Magam, Kupwara when learned about the killing of Maqbool they took to the street and held massive protest demonstration against the alleged murder of a boy at the hands of security forces of 24 Rastriya Rifles.

 The protestors blocked the highway, raised pro-freedom and anti-security forces slogans. The soldiers whom are accused for the killing cordoned the area and allegedly offered a hefty sum, to the relatives of slain Maqbool for keeping silence, which they refused to take.  


Border shelling

Troops of both sides are positioned eyeball-to-eyeball since India deployed its troops following the 13 December Fidayeen (suicide squad) attack on Parliament. The situation more worsen after the incident of Kaluchak on 14th of May in which thirty-six persons were killed including women and children allegedly by the militants active in the state. The war clouds are hovering. No indication of peace could be seen from any side. Seven soldiers, twenty-eight civilians including children and women were killed and hundreds of civilians sustained injuries in cross border shelling. Over a lakh people migrated from the border areas to the safer places due to intensification of cross borders shelling.      
On 3rd May, exchange of heavy shelling between Indian troops and Pakistani rangers along Line of Actual Control (LoC) and International Border (IB) has taken place. One woman was killed and nine persons received injuries some of them critically including three Indian soldiers in Poonch and RS Pora sector. It was also reported that five Pakistani bunkers were destroyed and many of its rangers were killed.

On 4th of May, the reports of shelling between Indian troops and Pakistani rangers were reported from Kanachak, Panjore, Rajpura, Beli Azmat, 


Gol Pattan, Chinor Farm, Pargwal, Pallanwalla, Sangral, Mangral, Korotana, Khurd, Fatwal, Narayanpura, S M Pura, Faqir Chak and many other places. But no loss of life or property was reported.      

On 13th May, Indian authorities alleged that heavy mortar shelling by Pakistani rangers without any provocation at Bhaglyar Dhara, Sokar, Kerni and Digwar border outposts along the Line of Actual Control in Poonch sector of Jammu. In retaliatory shelling by Indian soldiers several Pakistani bunkers were destroyed. But no loss of life or property was reported from Indian side. The exchange of shelling between Indian troops and Pakistani rangers were also reported from R S Pura, Samba, Arnia, Akhnoor and Heranagar sectors of Jammu region. 

On 15th of May, according to reports three civilians were received injuries when Pakistani shells in Poonch sector hit them. The exchange of mortars shelling and heavy firing by Indian troops and Pakistani rangers reported from number of forward areas along the International Border of Jammu and Kathua district. Indian officials alleged that Pakistani rangers resorted to indiscriminate firing on

the Border Operating Posts and along the Line of Actual Control in Sowjian sector of Poonch district. The heavy firing forced the Indian soldiers to retaliate.  

Also the exchange of shelling and heavy firing were reported from old Kanachak, Panjore, Rajpura, Beli Azmat, Gol Pattan, Chinor Farm, Pargwal, Pallanwalla, Sangral, Mangral, Korotana, Khurd, Fatwal, Narayanpura, S M Pura, Faqir Chak and many other places. However, no loss of life or property was reporter was from either side. …………..On 17th May, cross border shelling were reported from several places along Line of Actual Control and International Border. Indian authorities alleged that Pakistani soldiers resorted to indiscriminate mortar shelling on the forward area of Soradi village of Ramgarh in Samba sector. Indian troops retaliated the Pakistani aggression and the exchange of shelling lasted for half an hour in which two Indian army personnel and a girl received injuries.

One 15-year-old boy was killed at the border village of Treva in Arnia sector. Pakistani firing at Gharana in RD Pora injured one civilian when he was busy in his field. The cross border shelling were also reported from Kathua, Jammu, Banglad, Kangwala, Rapur, Pandore, Sadoh, Fakira Chak, Nanga, Ganodhral, SM Pura, Jaso Chak Manyari, Chogali, Pansar and many other places.

According to official sources more than eight hundred families migrated from their villages towards the safer places due to the intensified shelling. It was also alleged that five Pakistani soldiers were killed and six of their bunkers were destroyed in retaliation.  

On 18th of May, the situation along Line of Actual Control (LoC) and International Border remains (IB) panicky. Three civilians were injured when Pakistani soldiers allegedly resorted to heavy mortar shelling along the LoC in Nowshera sector of Rajouri district. Three women, a minor and two Border Security Forces personnel received injuries in cross border shelling in different sectors of Uri and Gurez along the LoC.     

Four civilians including three women were injured two of them seriously when one shell was landed in the compound in the resident house at Bazgrah village. Indian sources alleged that six Pakistani bunkers were destroyed and unknown number of their soldier were killed by the Indian action. 

Due to the escalation of violence along LoC and IB which has created fear psychosis among the people about 13000 peoples used to migrate from their homes for safety towards the safer places.  

On 19th May, the cross border gun firing in Chicken Neck area of Jammu caused damage to the cattle and property of the villagers and six villagers received injuries. Nearly eighty-percent population of Gahkrial area was fled from their homes towards the safer places. Only youth of the village are staying in their homes for looking after their cattle that are dying of starvation.     

On 20th May, reports of cross border shelling were received from several parts along the International Border and Line of Actual Control in which both the sides received causalities and hundreds of people migrated from their homes to convenient places. But it was not ascertained how many people got killed or injured. 

On 21st of May, Indian sources alleged that five Pakistani soldiers were killed and about five of their bunkers were annihilated by Indian troops when Pakistani soldiers without any provocation started artillery fire across the Line of Actual Control at Noorpur, Shahpur, Khari, Karmara and Sawjian areas of Poonch district. 

A twelve-year old boy was killed and three civilians including two women received injuries by Pakistani shelling at Jammu. 

The reports of cross border shelling were also reported from Pallanwalla and Pargwal areas of Akhnoor sector in which four persons were killed and six received injuries three of them badly. The cross border shelling remains continue in Kanachak, Panjore, Rajpura, Beli Azmat, Gol Pattan, Chinor Farm, Pargwal, Pallanwalla, Sangral, Mangral, Korotana, Khurd, Fatwal, Narayanpura, S M Pura, Faqir Chak and many other places.

On 22nd of May, according to the reports that seventy houses were gutted, 300 families were migrated, seven Pakistani rangers and two Indian soldiers including one Assistant Sub Inspector died due to heavy cross border shelling in several places along the Line of Actual Control and International Border. 

On 23rd of May, atleast ninety houses were damaged and three Indian soldiers sustained injuries due to heavy cross border mortar shelling in Nowshera sector. Atleast eighty families were migrated from several places along Line of Actual Control and International Border.  

Heavy cross border shelling was also reported from Karna sector but no loss of life or property was reported. 

On 24th of May, according to the Indian sources seven Pakistani soldiers were killed and twenty-four of their bunkers were destroyed in retaliatory action by Indian troops after Pakistani soldiers provoked them. 

Fifteen people including some women received injuries in cross border shelling in several places along Line of Actual Control and International Border. In Poonch sector thirteen cattle were died and eight houses were destroyed in the heavy exchange of shelling between Indian troops and Pakistani soldiers.  

On 25th of May, reports of heavy mortar shelling were received from different places along Line of Actual Control and International Border but no loss of life or property was reported from any place. The exchange of fire between the soldiers of India and Pakistan were reported from Chooha Post, Kalaal, Laam, Satwal, Siria, Mangota, Bhawani, Preetam, Kapori, Menka, Karmara, Shahpur, Raja Rani and Mahadev areas of Rajouri district. Reports of cross border shelling between Indian troops and Pakistani soldiers were also received from Gahkrial, Kanachak, Gole Pattan, Panjore, Chorgali, Chinor Farm, Deranapo, Lalyal, Mangu Chak and Saida.     


On 26th of May, Pakistani soldiers allegedly resorted to unprovoked shelling along the Line of Actual Control and International Border killing at least five persons including a woman and two minors and injuring dozens. In retaliation from Indian side five Pakistani soldiers were allegedly killed and several of their bunkers were destroyed.


On 27th of May, the situation remains war like along Line of actual Control and International border. Reports of heavy shelling have been reported from Poonch and Arnia sector according to Indian sources seven Pakistani soldiers were killed and twelve of their bunkers were destroyed. The reports of heavy cross border shelling has also been reported from RS Pura, Kathua, Hiranagar, Rajouri, Pallanwalla and from several other parts.    


On 28th of May, the situation along Line of Actual Control and International Border remains war like the reports of killings and migration received from several border areas. Due to continuation of cross border firing several houses were damaged and dozens of people received injuries including women. The reports exchange of firing from Kanachak, Panjore, Rajpura, Beli Azmat, Gol Pattan, Chinor Farm, Pargwal, Pallanwalla, Sangral, Mangral, Korotana, Khurd, Fatwal, Narayanpura, S M Pura, Faqir Chak and many other places were reported.

On 30th May, the reports of heavy cross border shelling were received from several places along Line of Actual Control and International Border. The 

reports of migration have been reported from different border areas including Gurez sector. 

On 31st May, the reports of heavy cross border shelling has been reported from different areas along Line of Actual Control and International Border. One army jawan and Border Security Forces personnel were killed when Pakistani shells hit them in RS Pora sector while eight Pakistani soldiers were killed and their several bunkers were also damaged allegedly in retaliation. 

The reports of cross border shelling were also reported from Kargil, Drass, Rajouri and several other places.

  

	Date
	Extra Judicial Executions
	Women
	Children
	Alleged Disappearances

	May 1
	
	
	1
	

	May 3
	
	1
	
	2

	May 4
	
	
	
	2( including a girl)

	May 6
	
	
	1
	

	May 7
	
	
	1
	

	May 10
	
	1
	
	

	May 15
	
	
	1
	

	May  20
	2
	
	
	1

	May 21
	
	
	1
	

	May 24
	1
	
	
	

	May 26
	
	1
	2
	

	May 28
	
	2
	
	1

	May 30
	
	1
	
	

	May 31
	
	
	1
	

	  Total
	3
	6
	8
	6


Killings in the month of May
	Date
	Soldiers
	Militants
	Civilians
	Counter Insurgents

	May 1
	3
	11
	1
	

	May 2
	1
	6
	2
	

	May 3
	
	18
	1
	

	May 4
	
	3
	5
	3

	May 5
	1
	12
	2
	

	May 6
	
	2
	5
	

	May 7
	2 SPO’s
	13
	3
	

	May 8
	
	11
	2
	

	May 9
	2
	6
	1
	

	May 10
	
	9
	4
	

	May 11
	1
	6
	2
	

	May 12
	
	
	7
	

	May 13
	2 SPO’s
	1
	3
	

	May 14
	23 (1 JCO)
	3
	13
	

	May 15
	
	12
	
	

	May 16
	3 (1 sub-inspector)
	9
	1 (NC worker)
	

	May 17
	
	8
	3
	

	May 18
	2
	9
	3
	

	May 19
	8
	3
	
	1

	May 20
	3
	5
	2
	

	May 21
	2
	
	4
	

	May 22
	
	6
	2
	

	May 23
	
	2
	2
	

	May 24
	2
	8
	2
	

	May 25
	4
	7
	3
	

	May 26
	
	2
	2
	

	May 27
	3 (1 SPO)
	3
	1
	1

	May 28
	2
	1
	3
	1

	May 29
	2 SPO’s
	3
	1
	

	May 30
	7(2 SPO’s)
	8
	
	

	May 31
	
	2
	4
	

	Total
	73 (11 Officers)
	189
	84
	6


Chronology of events in the month of May

May 1: One Village Defence Committee member and eleven militants were killed in several 

militancy related incidents in JK.

*        : Auto rickshaw driver was killed and four were injured badly when some unidentified 

            persons hurled grenade at Zaipora in Islamabad.

*       :  Police said Unidentified gunmen killed a youth identified as Aijaz Ahmad Khan at Hanura     

            near Panzala in Rafiabad, Varmul, police said.

*       :  Militants allegedly first abducted and later killed two Village Defence Committee members 

            at Daramshal, Rajouri.

May 2: Six militants, one Special Operation Group personnel and two civilians were killed in 

several militancy related incidents in JK.  

May 3: Eighteen militants and a woman were killed in several militancy related incidents in JK.  

May 4: Three militants, three alleged security forces informers and five civilians were killed in   

             several militancy related incidents in the state.

May 5: Twelve militants, a soldier and two civilians were killed in several militancy related 

 incidents in the state.

May 6: Two militants, five civilians including two brothers and a girl were killed in several  

 violence related incidents in JK.

May 7: Thirteen militants, two Special Police Officers and three civilians including a girl were 

 killed in several violence related incidents in JK. 

May 8: Eleven militants, a 60 year old released militant and a civilian died in several violence 

 related incidents in  JK.

May 9: Six militants and two soldiers were killed in several militancy related incidents in the state. 

*        :  Large scale protests were reported from several parts of the valley against the murderous 

             assault on JKLF chief Yaseen Malik who was booked under POTO. 

May 10: Nine militants were killed in several encounters with security forces in different parts of 

   the state. 

*          :  Three persons were shot dead by unidentified gunmen one at Bonjwah, Kishtawar and two 

              at Dalwa, Gool. 

*
: Unidentified bullet pumped dead bodies of a woman and man were recovered from Salhal    

               Hydel project in Reasi tehsil of Udhampur. 

May 11: One soldier and six militants were killed in several militancy related incidents in the state.

*    
: Two persons were allegedly shot dead by the militants at Bejbehara and Beerwah, 

               Budgam. 

May 12: Militants at Batshungni Winder, Zachaldara, allegedly killed two persons.

*          :  Police recovered four dead bodies from several places of the state. 

May 13: Two Special Police Officers, a militant and two civilians were killed in several militancy 

 
   related incidents in the state while a dead body of a youth was recovered from Kathalan-

   Kellar, Shopian.  

May 14: Thirty six person including twenty three army men were killed when militants allegedly 

   attacked them at Kaluchak about 10 km from Jammu. Also the three assailants were killed.  

May 15: Twelve militants were killed in several militancy related incidents in different places of 

   the state.

May 16: Nine militants, three soldiers including a sub inspector of ITBP and a National 

  Conference worker died in several militancy related incidents in the state.

May 17: Eight militants and a civilian died in several militancy related incidents in the state. 

*          :  Two civilians were killed and fifteen people received injuries some of the critically in 

               mine blast near Civil Secretariat in Srinagar. 

May 18: Nine militants, two ITBP personnel and three civilians were killed in several violence 

   related incidents in the state.

May 19: Three militants, one pro-government militant and eight soldiers were killed in several 

   militancy related incidents in the state. 

May 20: Five militants and three soldiers were killed in several militancy related incidents in the 

  state. 

*   
: Two youth were allegedly killed at the hands of Border Security Forces at Maharaj Gunj 

  and Varmul.   

May 21: One army man and a Village Defence Committee member killed by militants while a  

  person was allegedly shot dead by militants at Mahore area of Rajouri district.

*  
: A pro-independent prominent Kashmiri leader of Hurriet Conference Abdul Gani Lone 

  was assassinated by unidentified gunmen at Eidgah where the 12 death anniversary of 

  Mirwaiz Moulvi Farooq was observed.

May 22: Six militants and a forester died in several militancy related incidents in the state while 

  police recovered the dead body of a youth from Narkote area of Jammu. 

May 23: Two militants and two civilians were killed in several militancy related incidents in the 

   state. 

May 24: Eight militants, two civilians and two soldiers were killed in several militancy related 

  incidents in JK while unidentified men set ablaze three residential houses at Sangal in    

  Surankote area of Poonch. 

May 25: Four soldiers, three civilians and seven militants were killed in several violence related 

   incidents in the state. 

*
 : Border Security Forces of 20 BN arrested eleven local youth from Nasoo, Bandipora after 

    recovery of a shell from a graveyard of the area. 

May 26: Two militants were killed in different encounters in the state while two persons 

               were first abducted by unidentified gunmen and later killed them. 

May 27: Three security forces personnel including a Special Police Officer, a surrendered militant, 

   a civilian and three militants were killed in several violence related incidents in the state.

May 28: Two soldiers, one security forces informer, a militant and three civilians including two 

   sisters were killed in several violence-related incidents in the state. 

May 29: Two Special Police Officers including one lady SPO, a civilian and three militants were 

   killed in several violence related incidents in the state. 

May 30: Two Special Police Officers, two soldiers, three police cop and eight militants were killed    

   in several militancy related incidents in the state.

May 31: Four civilians including a minor and two militants were killed while dozens of persons

including five SPO’s received injuries in several violence related incidents       

in the state. 

	Legal Cell

PCHR has constituted a legal cell, which will be providing free legal assistance to the victims of human rights violations. Besides, PCHR will be filing Public interest petition before the Supreme Court of India and State High Court for enforcing the fundamental rights of the people.

For help contact: Legal Cell, PCHR, The Bund Amira Kadal, Srinagar Tel. No. 456381
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Editorial:





War hysteria





People from the South Kashmir were instructed by the militants in the beginning of May 2002 to remove the barbed wire in their fields and also to perform marriages before the month of June. The villagers were also directed by the army officials operating in the area not to sow the maize crops in their fields, in order to obstruct their campaign against the militants.  





Suicide committed





On 20th May, a soldier of Rastriya Rifles shot himself dead by using his service rifle in Khanabal, Anantnag. The identity of the slain has not been ascertained and the reason behind suicide was not known. 





Youth succumbs





A youth identified as Ghulam Hassan Khan son of Mohammad Rajab Khan resident of Qazi Hamam, Varmul allegedly on 30th March was ruthlessly beaten by security forces personnel without any provocation. Thereafter, he was hospitalized at Sher Kashmir Institute of Medical Sciences (SKIMS), Soura for treatment, but his conditions worsen day-by-day and eventually, on 9th of May, he was succumbed to his injuries.   





On 29th of May, in Poonch fourteen persons were reportedly killed and thirty-five received injuries, some of them critically when Pakistani rangers allegedly resorted to unprovoked shelling. 


According to reports Pakistani rangers allegedly fired six mortar shells in Poonch sector, which landed near the Poonch Bus Stand, office of the Deputy Commissioner Poonch and near Dhalan village in Poonch. One army jawan was died on the spot and several other sustained injuries, when two Pakistani motor shells hit an army vehicle, which was on its way towards ITI college from Poonch. People after heard the blast took to the street for knowing the real situation. Meanwhile, another motor shell landed near the DC office Poonch in which four persons died on the spot and twenty-eight injured out of which nineteen were seriously. Some of the injured succumbed later to their injuries.


The reports of cross border shelling were also reported from several places along the Line of Actual Control and International Border. 








Women-Children killed in the month of May


                                 									


On 1st May, a 15 years old girl identified as Radha Devi daughter of Subhash Singh was succumbed to her injuries after she was received critical injuries on 30th April in Pargwal sector of Jammu district.      





On 3rd of May, a woman whose identity could not be ascertained was killed in Poonch sector allegedly by Pakistani shelling.  





On 6th May, a girl identified as Tahira Akthar daughter of Ghulam Hassan Malik resident of Chinar Bandipora was killed by unidentified gunmen at her home. It was also reported that security forces arrested Tahira few months before allegedly having affiliation with militants.  





On 7th May, an unidentified dead body of a girl was recovered from the banks of Ans river. She was kidnapped by unidentified gunmen from Mahore tehsil of Udhampur district on 3rd of May.





On 14th of May, eleven children and women were killed in Kaluchak when the army quarter was allegedly attacked by the militants. 





On 21st May, a twelve-year boy identified as Uttam Sharma son of Romesh Lal resident of Kachrial in Pallanwalla sector was killed in cross border shelling. 





On 26th of May, a woman and her two minor children were killed in cross border shelling in Ranbir Singhpora. The deceased have been identified as Dodi, 10, Bunty, 12, and their mother Kuiyan wife of Taru resident of village Bega.





On 28th of May, unidentified gunmen barged in to the house of one Mohammad Ismaiel Sheikh at Shiratpora, Shopian and tried to kidnap his daughter namely, Shabnum Akthar. The family members when raised hue and cry, the gunmen opened fire and killed Shabnum and her sister namely, Umaira on the spot.





On 30th of May, unidentified gunmen in Thanamadi area of Rajouri killed a woman Special Police Officer identified as Naseema Akthar.





On 31st of May, in an encounter between security forces and militants at Chan Mohalla near Pattan in which a 6th class student was killed. The deceased has been identified as Aijaz Ahmad Lone son of Mohammad Sultan Lone.





Hurriet leader assassinated at Eidgah
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